
7 November 2019

NOTICE OF MEETING

CABINET
will meet on

Friday, 15 November 2019
beginning at

9:00 am
in

Room 11/12/13 - Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN

TO: Councillor Keith House (Chair), Councillor Paul Bicknell (Vice-Chair)
Councillor David Airey Councillor Tina Campbell
Councillor Ian Corben Councillor Tonia Craig
Councillor Rupert Kyrle Councillor Derek Pretty

Staff Contacts: Helen Maxwell, Democratic Services Officer Tel: 023 8068 8464; 
Email: helen.maxwell@eastleigh.gov.uk

GAETANA WISEMAN
Head of Performance and Governance

_____________________________________________________________________

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website -
https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk.

as well as in other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and other 
languages, upon request.

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the 
meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed.  To 

register please contact the Democratic Services Officer above
Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, sound recording 

and photography at meetings open to the public, and Councillors will be using 
tablet devices to access committee papers.

Eastleigh House
Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

1

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/
https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/


AGENDA

1. Minutes    (Pages 5 - 12) 

To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 24 October 2019.

2. Apologies    

3. Declarations of Interest     

Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes.

4. Corporate Fees and Charges    (Pages 13 - 48)

5. Article 4 Direction - Old Bursledon Conservation Area    (Pages 49 - 62)

6. Exempt Business     

To consider passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 in respect of the following item(s) of business on the grounds that it 
is/they are likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 
The Schedule 12A categories have been amended and are now subject to the 
public interest test, in accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  This 
came into effect on 1st March 2006.
 
It is considered that the following items are exempt from disclosure and that the 
public interest in not disclosing the information outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information.

EXEMPT ITEM(S) 

2



7. Property Transaction    (Pages 63 - 68)

8. Property Transactions    (To Follow)

9. Development of 10 - 20 Romsey Road Eastleigh - project update and request for 
further funding    (To Follow)

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Wednesday, 22 January 2020 at 6:30 pm

in the Rooms 11/12/13 Eastleigh House, Upper 
Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN

Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  -

Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews 

3

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


This page is intentionally left blank



1

CABINET

Thursday, 24 October 2019  (6:30 pm – 7:00 pm)

PRESENT:

Councillor House (Chairman); Councillors Airey, Campbell, Corben, Craig, 
Kyrle and Pretty

Also in attendance: Councillors Broadhurst, Gomer and Tyson-Payne

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Bicknell

________________________________________

57. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

Parish Councillor Anne Winstanley spoke to Cabinet on issues concerning 
Bishopstoke residents: the gap in the food waste collection service, 
specifically those residents in flats at Bishopstoke Park retirement village; 
the feasibility of installing public water fountains around the Borough 
(having seen an example within the City of Winchester); and developing a 
public toilet network within pubs and cafes for use by pedestrians/passing 
through visitors to the Borough.

The Leader responded that these suggestions were welcome and would 
be relayed on for consideration.  The Head of Direct Services responded 
that the Council would investigate the food waste collection service.  The 
Leader welcomed the interest in water fountains, noting that one had been 
established within the Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area at 
Greta Park and another was being considered by the Eastleigh Local Area 
Committee.

RECOMMENDED ITEMS (REQUIRING A DECISION)

58. UPGRADE OF PAY ON FOOT CAR PARKS IN EASTLEIGH TOWN 
CENTRE

Issue

For the continuing improvement of management of the Council’s parking 
infrastructure and addressing the priority of tackling traffic congestion; 
town centre economy and thereafter the environment for all to include 
health and well-being of the Borough’s residents.

Consideration

Having identified an area of non-compliance with the industry standard on 
data security, there is a risk that the Council’s pay on foot service being 

5

Agenda Item 1



2

vulnerable to third-party interrogation and release of personal payment 
data.

The report outlines the upgrading actions (hardware and software) 
required to update the Town Centre’s current pay on foot car parking 
machines at the Swan Centre and Mitchell Road car parks, where Chip 
and Pin facilities are in place.  

RESOLVED – 

That Cabinet approves the allocation of £55,400 to upgrade the 
existing Pay on Foot machines at the Swan Centre and Mitchell Road 
multi-storey car parks (MSCP): comprised of £40,000 from the Ticket 
Machine Reserve and £5,300 Car Parks Revenue Budget; £4,100 from 
an underspend in the Swan Centre Roof Capital Scheme and £6,000 
from the Eastleigh Local Area Committee Revenue Reserve.

59. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

Issue

To review the draft of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan and 
Strategy for the period 2019/2020 to 2024/2025.

Consideration

The report outlines the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan for the 
period 2019/2020 to 2024/2025 set out at Appendix A to the Report.  Its 
strategy is the need to preserve the minimal level of the General Fund 
Reserve at 10% of net revenue expenditure at approximately £1million, 
albeit that there are risks that may significantly impact on the Council’s 
final budget position.

RESOLVED – 

That Cabinet:

recommends to Council the Medium Term Financial Plan; and 

approves the implementation of the Continuous Improvement 
Strategy. 

The Leader thanked staff for their work to date to compile a plan that 
continued to protect services balanced with a real terms reduction in 
Council Tax.

60. WRITE OFF IRRECOVERABLE DEBTS

Issue

6



3

Delegated powers of Lead Specialist Staff in Health and Wellbeing and 
Economy have been exercised and Cabinet is recommended to approve 
the exercise of those powers.  Similarly, the Council’s Chief Financial 
Officer has exercised their delegated power.  

Consideration

The report outlines the annual position of the Council and the writing off of 
debts for the financial year 2018/2019 and identifies the causes for those 
write offs to be made and concludes that further recovery action at present 
would be counter-productive and/or uneconomic However, the Council 
reserves its position on future enforcement.

RESOLVED – 

That Cabinet:

(1) notes the write off of debts totalling £7,821.10 due to 
bankruptcy or liquidation proceedings, as approved by the 
Health and Wellbeing Lead Specialist;

(2) notes the write off of debts totalling £366,104.27 due to 
bankruptcy or liquidation proceedings as approved by the 
Economy Lead Specialist;

(3) approves the write off of debts totalling £146,054.78 relating to 
Housing Benefit overpayment; Council Tax and National Non-
Domestic Rates; and

(4) approves the write off of debts totalling £13,656.25 of a single 
Sundry Debtor.

61. CORPORATE PERFORMANCE & FINANCIAL MONITORING

Issue

To receive a report on the Council’s cumulative and Quarter 2 financial 
and performance position that highlights the significant and emerging 
issues for service areas.

Consideration

Delivery of statutory and discretionary services continue throughout the 
Borough and their Key Performance Indicators sign-post opportunities to 
improve efficiency and change the experience of residents.  A forecast 
saving of £133,000 on services for the year demonstrates the ability to 
continue to provide all budgeted services alongside the delivery of 
regeneration and housing schemes through the Community Investment 
Programme.

7



4

RESOLVED – 

That Cabinet notes and approves the performance of the Council for 
first half of the year, together with its financial position; the forecast 
for the whole year.

[Note: That Cabinet did not have available any recommendations made by 
Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel that met on 22 October 2019.]

62. ANNUAL REPORT ON CORPORATE RISK - 2018/2019

Issue

To receive the annual report on the Council’s management of risk during 
2018-2019; the continuing work of its Strategic Risk Management Group 
and the resulting proposal to establish a new framework within which to 
operate and to meet the Council’s corporate objectives.  The risk appetite 
statement summarises the Council’s aspirations towards achieving the 
objectives of its corporate plan, alongside where it may be vulnerable.

Consideration

The report outlines the Council’s management of risk over 2018-2019; the 
work of Staff and Councillors to develop a new framework to support the 
continuing work across the Council to achieve its corporate objectives and 
deliver the Council’s priorities across the Borough.  The content of the risk 
appetite statement attempts to evidence the potential risk exposure 
alongside aspiration to deliver Council priorities.

RESOLVED – 

That Cabinet, having reviewed the annual report on risk 
management, approves the revised risk management framework and 
risk appetite statement as at October 2019.

63. DRAFT CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT STRATEGY

Issue

To put in place an over-arching set of principles for enforcement by the 
Council in order for the Council to discharge its regulatory and good 
practice obligations and activities throughout the Borough and towards 
Central Government.

Consideration

This report responds to an absent over-arching enforcement strategy 
identified by the Council’s Internal Audit function and the identification that 

8



5

what was in force was out of date and insufficient to support a robust legal 
approach.

However, in consideration of those needs, Cabinet also considered the 
potential adverse impact on the Borough’s older people and vulnerable 
populations.  To that end, Cabinet agreed to insert at section 7 of the 
Strategy’s Appendix as paragraph 2:  

The Council will give due consideration to issues of incapacity or 
vulnerability, and seek appropriate solutions.  Each case is dependent 
upon its own particular facts. Where there is no substantiated evidence 
of vulnerability or incapacity, the Council will pursue enforcement action 
in the usual way.  

RESOLVED – 

That Cabinet approves the draft Strategy for consultation with the 
insertion of the additional text at paragraph 2 of Section 7 – Equality 
and Diversity Issues and Protection of Human Rights.

[Note that Councillor Campbell, supported by Councillor Craig, suggested 
the additional wording for the purpose of protecting vulnerable groups, 
whilst also supporting the fair and focussed approach of the draft 
Strategy.]

64. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME SCHEMES APPROVAL

Issue

To consider a number of CIP Schemes. 

Consideration

The report set out matters relating to a number of CIP schemes. 

RESOLVED – 

That Cabinet 

(1) approves £62,000 additional funding for the delivery of the 
cycleway, footpath and bridge on the extension land at 
Lakeside Country Park to be funded from income received 
from the Stoneham Housing Development;

(2) approves £115,000 additional funding for the completion of 
Wildern swimming pool roof, to be financed by New Homes 
Bonus;

9



6

(3) approves £120,000 additional funding for the completion of 
works to Highwood Barn at Itchen Valley Country Park, to be 
financed from New Homes Bonus;

(4) notes the completion of the temporary increase to both the 
Council’s operational boundary for external debt and the 
authorised limit for external debt by £300m as approved by 
Cabinet in June 2019; and

(5) approves the Council’s Prudential Indicators for 2019/20.

65. EASTLEIGH BOROUGH COUNCIL'S PROPERTY ASSETS REPAIR & 
RENEWAL PLAN

Issue

The report sets out the financial investment and programme plan for 
maintenance to achieve operational and commercial effectiveness of the 
Council’s operational and investment property portfolios over the five year 
period, 2019/2020 – 2023/2024.  

Consideration

Cabinet received a report that set out the planned maintenance of the 
Council’s property portfolio which aims to maintain its condition and 
achieve regulatory compliance, where it is required, for the dual purpose of 
operational and commercial effectiveness.

RESOLVED – 

That Cabinet approved the: 

(1) expenditure of £2.9million between 2019/2020 and 2023/2024 
for the Council’s Repairs and Renewals programme relating to 
its operational properties to be financed, initially, through 
borrowing with related revenue costs financed from revenue.

(2) the expenditure of £2.4million between 2019/2020 and 
2023/2024 for the Council’s Repairs and Renewals programme 
relating to commercial properties to be funded initially through 
borrowing with related revenue costs financed from 
commercial property income.

(3) the delegation of authority to the Lead Asset Manager in 
consultation with the Chief Financial Officer to adjust the 
financing method should the use of reserves provide better 
value for money in the financing of the Repair and Renewal 
Plan 2019/2020 – 2023/2024.

10



7

(4) the delegation of authority to the Lead Building Surveyor in 
consultation with the Chief Financial Officer to adjust the 
profile of spend across the five years of the Plan.

66. DEFINITION OF ANTI-SEMITISM

Issue

To respond to the request of the Department of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government that the Council formally adopts the International 
Holocaust Remembrance Alliance (IHRA) definition of antisemitism.  
Described as an urgent action following the identified rising trend of 
religiously motivated hatred by the Home Office and The Community 
Security Trust.

Consideration

The report to Cabinet summarised the Council’s approach to hate crime, 
having adopted a motion of zero-tolerance at its meeting in July 2016 and 
the subsequent working of the Eastleigh Community Safety Partnership 
and with other agencies to address crime, antisocial behaviour and the 
support of victims.  Cabinet noted that under the Equality Act 2010, Jewish 
people are considered as having the protected characteristic of religion, 
belief and race. The reported rising trend in religiously motivated hate 
crime – year on year – prompts Central Government to request urgent 
action from all local authorities in the adoption of the definition.

RESOLVED

Cabinet approves the adoption of the working definition of 
Antisemitism compiled by the IHRA: 

“Antisemitism is a certain perception of Jews, which may 
be expressed as hatred toward Jews. Rhetorical and 
physical manifestations of antisemitism are directed 
toward Jewish or non-Jewish individuals and/or their 
property, toward Jewish community institutions and 
religious facilities.”

67. CLIMATE AND ENVIRONMENTAL EMERGENCY STRATEGY AND 
INTERIM ACTION PLAN

Issue

Having made its Declaration of a Climate Change and Environmental 
Emergency on 18 July 2019 – Council established a Working Group 
(CCEEWG) to compile a new Strategy and Interim Action Plan.  Both re-
affirm Council’s commitment towards achieving the objectives of the 
present Strategy and to take further actions for the achievement of carbon 
neutrality by 2025 by the Council and around the Borough by 2030.  

11



8

Similarly, to identify and implement actions in each of its decisions that 
mitigate and adapt to climate change. 

Consideration

The report outlines the Council’s progress to date on the compilation and 
implementation of an initial Action Plan and new Strategy in response to 
Council’s Declaration.  The Council will work (together with its Partners 
and commercial relationships) to implement the interim action plan and 
new Climate Change Strategy.

Resolved – 

That Cabinet notes the content of the report and makes 
recommendations, as appropriate, to Council.

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)

68. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest in relation to the items of business 
on the agenda.

69. MINUTES

RESOLVED -

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 11 July 2019 be agreed as a 
correct record.

M6519

1. FIELD_TITLEFIELD_TITLE

12



 

CABINET

15 NOVEMBER 2019

CORPORATE FEES AND CHARGES

Report of the Corporate Director – Support Services (CFO) 

Recommendation

For Cabinet:

It is recommended that Cabinet 

1) approves all proposed fees and charges in Appendices 1 to 9 to come into 
effect on the dates outlined in the report. 

2) approve that the town centre car parking charges should remain unchanged 
for 2020/21

And recommend that Administration Committee approve:

3) the Taxi and Hackney Carriage Licensing fees and charges

Summary

Fees and Charges for Council services are reviewed on a regular basis.  In accordance 
with the Budget Plan, fees and charges levied by the Council are being reviewed with the 
intention of increases being introduced, where possible, with effect from January 2020.  
This report contains the fees and charges for services directly managed by Cabinet.  The 
increases in this report will be budgeted to achieve an additional yield of £114,160 in 
2020/2021 which is in line with the Medium Term Financial Plan.  

Statutory Powers

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972

Section 93 of the Local Government Act 2003

13

Agenda Item 4



Eastleigh Borough Council

Environmental Protection Act 1990

Strategic Implications 

1. This report relates to a range of Corporate Plan objectives and the Council’s 
principle of operating in a business-like, commercially focussed way.  The 
report reflects the Council’s approach to minimise the levels of (compulsory) 
Council Tax while seeking to cover Council costs from fees and charges from 
discretionary services.  The proposals in many areas promote health and 
wellbeing by setting discounted rates for community or non-commercial 
groups; they also help tackle deprivation by providing discounted rates for 
individuals experiencing socio-economic deprivation.  The report reflects the 
Council’s objective of an Excellent Environment for all in applying the highest 
possible penalties for environmental offences such as littering, flyposting and 
graffiti.

Introduction

2. The purpose of this report is to outline proposed changes to corporate fees 
and charges levied for services by the Council and approved by Cabinet.  A 
minimum increase in yield of 3.0% for all fees and charges should be 
implemented, where possible, from January 2020.

3. Service Managers consider their fees and charges in the context of service 
development in addition to recognising the Council’s policy to generate 
additional funds by way of maximising the yield from all income sources.  

4. There are other fees and charges within the Council’s Budget to which an 
inflationary increase cannot apply.  These income streams are mainly grants 
or related to contracts and therefore cannot be increased to raise further 
income

Budget Devolution

5. Councillors should note that following Cabinet approval in September 2012, 
the following services are devolved to Local Area Committees and therefore 
the fees and charges for these areas are now set by those Committees:

 Car Parking;
 Cemeteries;
 Itchen Valley and Lakeside Country Parks;
 Outdoor sports facilities;
 Allotments.

6. Local Area Committees have the discretion to set fees for services devolved 
to their Areas, subject to compliance with the corporate target to generate an 
additional minimum yield from fees and charges of 3.0%.

14



Eastleigh Borough Council

Services Managed Directly by Cabinet

7. There are a number of services that are managed by Cabinet and these 
services are listed below with their respective appendix references.

Appendix Description

1 Arts and Culture 

2 Direct Services

3 Health and Wellbeing

4 Housing and Development

5 Environment

6 Economy

7 Support Services

8 Strategy

9 Local Operations

Arts and Culture (Appendix 1)

8. Arts and Culture staff have reviewed the fees and charges and the proposed 
increases will be in line with other market providers.  All other fees and 
charges have been amended based on what is considered an acceptable 
level for our client base.  The community theatre hire increases have been 
kept to a minimum following the operational changes last year which brought 
charges into line to reflect actual costs of services and support provided.  The 
overall fees and charges for Cultural Services are expected to generate 
additional yield of £8,950.

Direct Services (Appendix 2)

9. The overall fees increase for Direct Services are expected to generate an 
additional £55,580.  The significant changes for Councillors to note are 
detailed in the following paragraphs. 

10. Garden Waste Service: The Head of Direct Services has reviewed the fees 
and charges for this service and recommends that the charges are increased.  
The increase would generate an additional income of £22,050.

11. Trade waste:  Increases of individual contract charges do vary across the 
existing customer base dependent on the value of the contract and the 

15



Eastleigh Borough Council

existing yield which the contract delivers.  In total, trade waste charges are 
expected to provide an additional increased yield of £26,450 which equates to 
3%.

12. Vehicle Workshop:  The Head of Direct Services has reduced the Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Certificate of compliance from £56.00 to £49.00 to 
encourage the increased use of Council’s services.  Any shortfall in the yield 
will be funded from the earmarked reserve.

13. Gardening Scheme:  It is proposed that the gardening scheme fees are 
increased from £268.80 to £278.40 per annum; this will cover the cost of 16 
visits per annum per customer.

14. All other proposed fees and charges in Direct Services are in line with the 
recommended yield increase of 3.0%. 

Health and Wellbeing (Appendix 3)

15. The operator of Places Leisure Eastleigh (Places for People) and Council 
Staff have reviewed the charges for January 2020 onwards.  The proposed 
Council target of an additional 3% yield has been taken into consideration.  
Other factors such as usage trends, operational costs, recent investments, 
competitors’ pricing policies and the customer’s ability to pay have also been 
taken into account.

16. It is proposed that the annual membership fee is frozen for 2020, due to a 
3.4% increase the previous year, combined with market research which 
shows the price set for 2020 is competitive with other leisure centres in close 
proximity to Eastleigh. The casual use of the centre has increased by 2.53% 
this year. The Passport to Leisure scheme gives those families in most need a 
discount, in order to access the facilities at Places Leisure Eastleigh.  
Furthermore, the Council will be working closely with Places Leisure Eastleigh 
to ensure greater outreach and support is provided to residents to encourage 
inclusive access to leisure provision at Places Leisure Eastleigh.

17. Proposals were presented to the Place Leisure Eastleigh Consultative Group 
on the 8 October 2019 and proposed charges were approved by this Group.

18. The Head of Health and Wellbeing does not propose to increase the fees and 
charges at The Hub as these were last increased in May 2019.  

Housing and Development (Appendix 4)

19. The overall fees increase for Housing and Development will generate an 
additional £33,660.  One increase to note is the fee for Land Charges 
Commons Registration where after comparison with other Local Authorities, 
including Hampshire County Council, the Head of Housing and Development 
is proposing to increase the fees from £24.64 to £30.00 (22%).

16



Eastleigh Borough Council

20. All other fees and charges changes in Housing and Development are in line 
with the corporate target of 3%.

Environment (Appendix 5)

21. The majority of the charges are for statutory services which customers are at 
discretion to request.  Other fees and charges have generally been increased 
by 3.0% and it is anticipated that in total the service will generate an income 
yield in line with the corporate target.

22. Councillors will be aware that the administration of the Taxi and Hackney 
Carriage Licensing Service transferred to Southampton County Council in 
2016.  The service is a ring-fenced service and is required to break-even.  The 
proposed Fees and Charges will be presented to the Administration 
Committee on 3rd February 2020.  Eastleigh Borough Council is required to 
review Disabled Parking Places on an annual basis to ensure any bay which 
are no longer needed are removed thereby releasing the on road parking 
space for general use. 

23. The review is undertaken by contacting the disabled user for whom the bay 
was installed, on occasions the renewal letter is not responded to so a 
reminder is sent, if there is still no answer a member of staff calls on the 
address, and if no one is at home, a contact slip requesting the occupier gets 
in touch to confirm either way is left. If there is still no contact the bay is 
removed. If after this process the original applicant requests the bay is 
replaced the proposed charge is made for the replacement process.

24. The Environmental Lead Specialist has reviewed all Animal Welfare charges 
in line with new guidelines issued by Department for Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs (DEFRA).   This will enable the costs of of delivering the service 
to be recovered appropriately.   

25. Collection of Stray Dogs: There is no proposal to increase fees as the 
kennelling contract is due to be reviewed in the coming months and therefore 
the fees will be presented to Cabinet at a later date.

Economy (Appendix 6)

26. The overall fees increases for Economy are expected to generate an 
additional £3,500 in yield.  The Head of Economy and Business is proposing 
just over a 3% increase on Primary Authority charges and removing the audit 
fee.  The Service will introduce new charges in 2021 in consultation with its 
Primary Authority Partners.

Support Services (Appendix 7)

27. The Asset Management Service fees are driven by what is deemed to be 
reasonable in the market. Legal advice is being sought on appropriate 

17



Eastleigh Borough Council

charges for restrictive covenant applications in respect of former council 
houses and whilst this is awaited staffs have simplified our procedures and 
have reduced our fee accordingly in respect of such applications.  However it 
is anticipated that the fees overall will achieve the 3.0% increase in yield.

Strategy (Appendix 8) 

28. Strategy fees and charges are anticipated to achieve the 3.0% increase in 
yield although the regulations have changed for elections and the Council can 
no longer charge for letters confirming register entry.

Local Operations (Appendix 9)

29. The Local Response Team currently undertake the deployment of the Speed 
Limit Reminders (SLR)\Speed Indicator Device (SID) for the Local Area 
Committees.  The Local Operations and Parking Manager is hoping to start 
deploying these for the Parish Councils at £75.00 per deployment.  It is 
anticipated that this will generate an additional yield of £1,500 per annum.

Eastleigh Town Centre Car Parking

30. The corporate recommendation from the Local Operations and Parking 
Manager supported by the Car Parking Working Group is for the car parking 
fees and charges should remain unchanged for 2020/21 in order to continue 
to encourage visitors to the town centre.

Risk Assessment

31. There is always a risk that proposed charges will not yield the overall 
anticipated 3.0% additional income target for the Budget.  The impact of 
changing the fees and charges needs to be balanced against the impact on 
demand, giving rise to changes in overall yield; this will be monitored closely 
during the quarterly Corporate Performance and Financial Monitoring 
processes throughout the year.

Financial Implications

32. The approval of this report meets the objective of the Medium Team Financial 
Plan and result in additional yield of £114,160 in 2020/2021.

Equality and Diversity Implications

33. Any service equality and diversity implications will have been considered by 
functional leads as part of their Service Planning processes.  There are no 
specific equality and diversity issues associated with this report which simply 
presents a summary of Cabinet-controlled fees and charges for the Council.

18



Eastleigh Borough Council

Climate and Environmental Implications

33. The proposals in this report are unlikely to lead to any significant changes to 
Council or area wide Greenhouse Gas/CO2, or damage ecology or the 
environment. Specifically changes to parking and garden waste fee levels are 
not expected to lead to significant service changes. The report does not 
include activities that relate to environmental resilience or adaptation to the 
changing climate

Conclusion

34. The Council undertakes an annual review of all fees and charges.  Where 
possible, the review reflects the Council’s Budget requirement to achieve an 
increase of 3.0% in yield.  The above increases will be budgeted to achieve 
an additional yield of £114,160 in 2020/2021.  Where possible, the fees and 
charges will be increased with effect from January 2020.  

SARAH KING

Corporate Director – Support Services (Chief Financial Officer) 

Date: 18 October 2019
Contact Officer: Mandy Nellthorpe 
Tel No: 02380 688082
e-mail: mandy.nellthorpe@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: 9

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

None

19



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1
ARTS AND CULTURE

Theatres: The Point & The Berry 
Theatre

Current From 01/01/20 Change

Commercial £ £ %

Monday – Sunday 11 hours per day 1,050.00 1,100.00 4.76%

Weekly hire rate – midday on 1st day to 
midnight on 7th day Max 60 hours access

6,500.00 6,700.00 3.08%

Additional hourly rate 140.00 145.00 3.57%
Additional hourly rate pre 9am post-
midnight

200.00 210.00 5.00%

Auditorium: Conference hire up to 4 
hours

450.00 475.00 5.56%

Auditorium Conference hire up to 8 hours 750.00 800.00 6.67%

Theatre Current Change
COMMUNITY £ %

Monday – Sunday 11 hours per day 800.00 810.00 1.25%

Weekly hire rate – midday on 1st day to 
midnight on 7th day Max 60 hours access

4,350.00 4,400.00 1.15%

Additional hourly rate 140.00 142.50 1.79%
Additional hourly rate pre 9am post-
midnight

200.00 205.00 2.50%

Auditorium: Conference hire up to 4 
hours

350.00 360.00 2.86%

Auditorium Conference hire up to 8 hours 550.00 560.00 1.82%

Dance Studio – all charges are per 
hour or part hour

Current                                   
£

From 01/01/20              
£

Change %  

COMMERCIAL Standard Standard

Per hour 40.00 40.00 0.00%
Per hour (Series Booking) 37.00 38.00 2.70%
Per 3 hour session 95.00 100.00 5.26%
All day session 10am – 5pm 165.00 180.00 9.09%

Dance Studio – all charges are per 
hour or part hour

Current From 01/01/20 Change

COMMUNITY £ £ %

Per hour 29.00 30.00 3.45%
Per hour (Series Booking) 28.00 28.00 0.00%
Per 3 hour session 68.00 70.00 2.94%
All day session 10am – 5pm 115.00 120.00 4.35%

Current From 01/01/20 Change

£ £ %
Irving Room/Wilde Room 15.00 16.00 6.67%
Studio Theatre 20.00 22.00 10.00%
Studio Theatre for Performance 30.00 35.00 16.67%
Conference Room 22.50 22.50 0.00%

The Point Theatre and The Berry and Meeting Rooms Charges 

From 01/01/20            
£

Meeting Rooms - Hourly Rate - 
Community 

21



Current From 01/01/20 Change

£ £ %
Irving Room/Wilde Room 20.00 22.00 10.00%
Studio Theatre 22.50 26.00 15.56%
Studio Theatre for Performance 35.00 40.00 14.29%
Conference Room 25.00 27.50 10.00%

Creation Centre – Rate Current From 01/01/20 Change
Community £ £ %
Creation Space – ½ Day 168.00 170.00 1.19%
Creation Space – Day 315.00 315.00 0.00%

Creation Space – Day including evening 468.00 470.00 0.43%

Creation Space – Weekly 2,600.00 2,650.00 1.92%
Atrium – Hourly 22.00 23.00 4.55%

Creation Centre – Rate Current From 01/01/20 Change
Commercial £ £ %
Creation Space – ½ Day 275.00 280.00 1.82%
Creation Space – Day 440.00 450.00 2.27%

Creation Space – Day including evening 660.00 675.00 2.27%

Creation Space – Weekly 3,800.00 4,000.00 5.26%
Atrium – Hourly 24.00 25.00 4.17%
Foyer Current From 01/01/20 Change %
Community – Evening 200.00 200.00 0.00%
Standard - Evening 250.00 255.00 2.00%
Commercial Events
Starting from
Large Wedding: Peak 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00%
Large Wedding: Off Peak 1,750.00 1,750.00 0.00%
Small Wedding: Peak 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00%
Small Wedding: Off Peak 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00%

Meeting Rooms – Hourly Rate – 
Commercial

Current From 01/01/20 Change %

22



Current From 01/01/2020 Change

£ £ %

Technician 15.00 16.00 6.67%
4 hour Pre-rig with 2 technicians 120.00 150.00 25.00%

5 hour basic plotting with 2 technicians 150.00 150.00 0.00%

Show day rehearsal and 1 show 390.00 400.00 2.56%
Radio Mic 1 day 13.50 10.00 -25.93%
Radio mic 2 days 22.00 15.00 -31.82%
Radio Mic weekly 67.00 55.00 -17.91%
Mics (wired) 4.50 4.50 0.00%
Mics 2 day 6.50 6.50 0.00%
Mics week 18.00 18.00 0.00%
Drum kit 17.00 17.00 0.00%
Drum kt 2 day 30.00 30.00 0.00%
Drum kt week 75.00 75.00 0.00%
Metro deck blocks 6.00 7.00 16.67%
Blocks 2 day 9.00 10.00 11.11%
Blocks week 28.00 30.00 7.14%
Hazer 17.00 20.00 17.65%
Hazer 2 days 27.00 35.00 29.63%
Hazer week 73.00 80.00 9.59%
Followspot 27.00 30.00 11.11%
Followspot 2 days 42.00 45.00 7.14%
Followspot week 130.00 145.00 11.54%
Projector 55.00 60.00 9.09%
Projector 2 day 85.00 95.00 11.76%
Projector weekly 255.00 250.00 -1.96%
Projection screen  Small 12.00 15.00 25.00%
Projection screen  Large 0.00 25.00 New
Projection screen 2 day  Small 27.00 25.00 -7.41%
Projection screen 2 day  Large 0.00 40.00 New
Projection screen week 73.00 80.00 9.59%
Small PA 1 Day Hire 50.00 60.00 20.00%
Small PA Weekend Hire 75.00 75.00 0.00%
Med PA 1 Day Hire 75.00 85.00 13.33%
Med PA Weekend Hire 110.00 110.00 0.00%
Large PA 1 Day Hire 100.00 150.00 50.00%
Large PA Weekend Hire 155.00 155.00 0.00%
MAC Book Pro 1 Day 20.00 20.00 0.00%
MAC Book Pro 2 Day 40.00 40.00 0.00%
MAC Book Pro Week 120.00 120.00 0.00%

Techpro Radio and Comms pack 6 radios 
and Belt pack 1 Day

20.00 20.00 0.00%

Infrared Conference mics x 20 1 Day 66.00 85.00 28.79%

Infrared Conference mics x 40 1 Day 95.00 150.00 57.89%

Performance Tickets Various

Creation Centre 

Studio Series Classes

Deposit

 Technical Charges

Hire of the Creation Space includes the use of the ground floor complex which includes the Green Room and the Dressing 
Room/Company Office.

Minimum booking of 10 sessions.  Studio booking charges include PRS cover for the use of recorded music in classes and 
the inclusion of a class in The Point’s promotional brochure.

A non-returnable deposit of 10% of the total hire charge is payable at the time of booking.

23



Cancellations

8 months notice 0.25
6 months notice 0.50
Less than 6 months notice Full charge

24



APPENDIX 2

Current From 01/04/20 Change
£ £ %

Up to 8 units 58.00 60.00 3.45%
Each unit thereafter 7.25 7.50 3.45%
Up to 8 units - concession 38.00 39.50 3.95%
Each unit thereafter - concession 4.50 4.75 5.56%
Bulky Waste/Quoted Work Minimum 
Charge

62.00 65.00 4.84%

Current From 01/04/20 Change
£ £ %

Trade Waste Charges  various various
Current From 01/04/20 Change

£ £ %
Garden waste service (first  bin) April – 
March (50 wks) 38.00 39.00 2.63%
Garden waste service (first bin) April – 
March (50 wks) Concession 30.50 31.50 3.28%
Garden waste service (after first bin price 
per bin) April – March (50 wks) 35.00 36.00 2.86%

Garden waste service (after first bin price 
per bin) April – March (50 wks) 
Concession

24.50 25.50 4.08%
Garden waste service (first  bin) Oct – 
March (25 wks) 29.50 30.00 1.69%
Garden waste service (first bin) Oct – 
March (25 wks) Concession 25.50 26.50 3.92%
Garden waste service (after first bin price 
per bin) Oct – March (25 wks) 27.50 28.50 3.64%
Garden waste service (after first bin price 
per bin) Oct – March (25 wks) 
Concession 24.00 25.00 4.17%

Redelivery of Garden Waste bin, if re-join 
after 6 months

23.50 24.50 4.26%
Current From  01/04/20 Change

£ £ %
140/240 litre 16.50 17.00 3.03%
1100 litre 35.00 36.50 4.29%
Additional black waste sacks not 
contained within the  1100 litre bin – 
communal properties 3.50 3.65 4.29%
Replacement of residual (black) wheeled 
bins should the bin go missing or be 
damaged

Charge not yet levied to 
residents

Delivery Bins (Companies and New 
Developments)

23.50 24.50 4.26%

Up to 1-8 set then £21.50 thereafter for 
each 8 set

Current From 01/01/20 Change
£ £ %

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Certificate of Compliance 56.00 49.00 -12.50%
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire – 
Retest 20.00 21.00 5.00%
Car Loan Inspections 82.00 82.00 0.00%

DIRECT SERVICES (Increases for 1 April 2020).

Bulky items

Trade Waste

Special Collections

Collection of missed bins not put out 
for collection by residents  and 
collection of contaminated bins

Vehicle Workshop

25



Streetscene
Abandoned Shopping Trolleys Current From 01/01/20 Change
(per trolley) 

£ £ %
Collect & Return (By Prior Agreement) 23.00 23.00 0.00%
Pest Control Service (all Inc. VAT) Current From 01/01/20 Change
Domestic Premises

£ £ %

General Advice Visit – domestic property 27.50 28.40 3.27%

Rats – domestic property (up to 4 visits) 78.50 81.00 3.18%

Mice – domestic property (up to 4 visits) 78.50 81.00 3.18%
Rats – domestic property (additional 
visits/visit) 21.00 21.70 3.33%
Mice – domestic property (additional 
visits/visit) 21.00 21.70 3.33%
Rat/mice treatment for people on defined 
benefits. 12.50 13.00 4.00%

Wasp Treatment – domestic property (1st 

nest) 48.50 50.00 3.09%
Wasp nest (additional nests) 20.50 21.00 2.44%
Flea Treatment – per hour, up to 5 
bedrooms. 115.00 119.00 3.48%

Flea Treatment – per hour, after 1st hour. 65.50 67.50 3.05%

Insects – for 1st hour. 115.00 119.00 3.48%

Insects – per hour, after 1st hour 65.50 67.50 3.05%
Any pest visit where the PCO is unable to 
gain access as agreed (additional cost to 
treatment) 12.50 13.00 4.00%
Pest Control Service (all inc. VAT) Current From 01/01/20 Change
Business Premises 

£ £ %

Rodent control - business premises 
under contract

To be quoted on site by site 
basis by PCO

To be quoted on site 
by site basis by PCO

69.00
To be quoted on site 
by site basis by PCO

Rats & Mice - business premises not 
under contract – hourly rate after initial 
visit 84.00 87.00 3.57%

Wasps (1st nest) 54.00 56.00 3.70%
Wasps (each additional nest) 23.00 24.00 4.35%

Fleas for 1st hour 125.00 129.00 3.20%

Fleas – per hour after 1st hour 70.00 72.50 3.57%

Insects for 1st hour 125.00 129.00 3.20%

Insects – per hour after 1st hour 70.00 72.50 3.57%

Rodent control - business premises 
under contract – additional visit

Rats & Mice - business premises not 
under contract – general advice visit

To be quoted on site by site 
basis by PCO

To be quoted on site 
by site basis by PCO

26



STREETSCENE DESCRIPTION OF OFFENCE
WHO CAN ISSUE 

FPNs
   AMOUNT

Section & Legislation
s.6(1) Clean Neighbourhoods and 
Environment Act 2005

Nuisance parking
Local authority 

authorised officers
Amount fixed at £100

s.2A(1) Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 
1978

Abandoning a vehicle
Local authority 

authorised officers
Amount fixed at £200

s.88(1) Environmental Protection Act 
1990

Litter

Litter authority 
authorised officers, 

including persons not 
directly employed by 

the authority (see 
paragraph 13 below); 

Policy Community 
Support Officers and 

other persons 
accredited under 

Community 
Accreditation 

Schemes under the 
Police Reform Act 

2002

Can be set at local level 
(between £50 -£80). 

Default £80

s.94A(2) Environmental Protection Act 
1990

Street litter control notices and 
litter clearing notices

Principal litter authority 
authorised officers

Can be set at local level 
(between £75 -£100). 

Default £100

Schedule 3A, para. 7(2) Environmental 
Protection Act 1990

Unauthorised distribution of 
literature on designated land

Principal litter authority 
authorised officers, 

including persons not 
directly employed by 

the authority (see 
paragraph 13 below)

Can be set at local level 
(between £50 - £80). 

Default £80

s.43 Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003 Graffiti and fly-posting

Local authority 
authorised officers, 

including persons not 
directly employed by 

the authority (see 
paragraph 13 below); 

PCSO and other 
persons accredited 
under Community 

Accreditation 
Schemes under the 

Police Reform Act 
2002.

Can be set at local level 
(between £50 - £80). 

Default £80

S 5B(2) Control of Pollution (Amendment) 
Act 1989

Failure to produce authority 
(waste carrier’s licence)

Waste collection 
authorities and 

Environment Agency 
(acting through their 

Officers

Amount fixed at £300

s.34A(2) Environmental Protection Act 
1990

Failure to furnish 
documentation (waste transfer 
notes)

Waste collection 
authorities and 

Environment Agency 
(acting through their 

officers)

Amount fixed at £300

s.47ZA(2) Environmental Protection Act 
1990

Offences in relation to waste 
receptacles

Waste collection 
authority authorised 

officers

Can be set at local level 
(between £57-£110). 

Default £110

27



s.59(2) Clean Neighbourhoods and 
Environment Act 2005

Offences under Dog Control 
Orders

Authorised officers of 
primary and secondary 

authorities, including 
persons not directly 

employed by the 
authority, PCSO and 

other persons 
accredited under 

Community 
Accreditation 

Schemes under the 
Police Reform Act 

2002

Can be set at local level 
(between £50 - £80). 

Default £80

s.73(2) Clean Neighbourhoods and 
Environment Act 2005

Failure to nominate key-holder 
(within an alarm notification 
area) or to notify local authority 
in writing of nominated key-
holder’s details

Local authority 
authorised officers, 

including persons not 
directly employed by 

the authority

Can be set at local level 
(between £50 - £80). 

Default £80

S.6(5) Health Act 2006
Failure to display no smoking 
signs

Local authority 
authorised officers

Amount set at £200 
reduced to £150 if paid 

within 15 days

S.7(2) Health Act 2006
A person who smokes in a 
smoke-free place commits an 
offence.

Local authority 
authorised officers

Amount set at £50 
reduced to £30 if paid 

within 15 days
Gardening Scheme Current From 01/03/20 Change

£ £ %
16 Visits from March - October 268.80 278.40 3.57%

28



Current From 01/01/20 Change
£ £ %

House Inspection Fee re immigration 
compatibility

265.00 275.00 3.77%

Additional charge for revisit due to 
missed appointment by client

51.75 53.00 2.42%

HMO Licensing (Houses in Multiple 
Occupation) – up to 5 occupants 

900.00 900.00 0.00%

HMO Licensing (Houses in Multiple 
Occupation) – over 5 occupants

31.00 per additional occupant 
up to a maximum of 1,150.00

31.00 per additional 
occupant up to a 

maximum of 1,150.00

HMO Licensing (Houses in Multiple 
Occupation) – supplying existing plans

84.00 86.00 2.38%

Housing Health Check Visit 97.00 100.00 3.09%
Fee for service of Improvement Notice 475.00 490.00 3.16%
Fee for service of Prohibition Order 475.00 490.00 3.16%
Fee for service of Emergency Prohibition 
Order

475.00 490.00 3.16%

Fee for service of Emergency Remedial 
Notice

475.00 490.00 3.16%

Fee for reviewing Suspended Prohibition 
Order and Improvement Notice

150.00 160.00 6.67%

Caravan Sites Current      From 01/01/20 Change 
                                                                                                        £ £ %
Caravan Site Licence Application base 
fee* 

465.00 475.00 2.15%

Caravan Site Variation of 
Licence/Conditions Request

155.00 160.00 3.23%

Caravan Site Transfer of Licence 
Request

155.00 160.00 3.23%

Annual Administration of Site Licence 
base fee*

270.00 275.00 1.85%

Service of Compliance Notice 475.00 490.00 3.16%
Service of Works in default Notice 475.00 490.00 3.16%
Service of Emergency Works Notice 475.00 490.00 3.16%
*Cost of Inclusion on fit & proper person 
register

0.00 0.00

*Cost of depositing site rules with Local 
Authority

0.00 0.00

No. of Homes %
0 – 10 -20.00

11 – 20 -10.00
21 – 30 0.00
31 – 40 10.00
41 – 50 15.00
51 – 100 20.00

100 + 25.00

APPENDIX 3

*   % increase/reduction in fee based on size of site

HEALTH AND WELLBEING

Housing (all Inc. VAT)

29



Places Leisure Eastleigh Current 2020 Change
Hire of Equipment %
Hire charge £2.70 £2.80 3.70%
Centre - Wide Membership
Joining £30.00 £30.00 0%
Family £900.00 £900.00 0%
Single £450.00 £450.00 0%
Gym
Casual Gym £7.90 £8.10 2.53%
Group Ex & Les Mills
Step Reebok - off peak £6.20 £6.40 3.23%
Step Reebok - peak £6.80 £7.00 2.94%
Aerobics-off peak £6.20 £6.40 3.23%
Aerobics- peak £6.80 £7.00 2.94%
Aquatherapy £4.20 £4.30 2.35%
Aquacise-peak £6.80 £7.00 2.94%
Badminton - per hour
Peak £12.40 £12.60 1.61%
Off Peak Adult £8.00 £8.20 2.50%
Off Peak Junior £3.70 £3.70 0%
Squash per 40 minutes
Peak £8.20 £8.20 0%
Off Peak Adult £6.20 £6.20 0%
Off Peak Junior £2.70 £2.70 0%
Squash Club £7.50 £7.60 1.33%
Table Tennis - per hour
Adult £4.50 £4.60 2.19%
Junior £2.10 £2.20 4.76%
 Main Hall 5 courts
Adult - peak £67.00 £69.00 2.99%
Adult - off peak £50.00 £52.00 4.00%
Off peak Junior £26.00 £27.00 3.85%
Special Activities
Studio per hour £52.00 £52.00 0.00%
Forever Active £4.75 £4.90 3.16%
Forever Active Additional Gym £1.65 £1.70 3.03%
Creche - per 1/2 hour £1.60 £1.65 3.12%
Fit n Mix ( Tues & Thurs ) £6.30 £6.50 3.17%
Active Play and Bounce Parent + 1 £3.70 £3.80 2.70%
Active Play and Bounce Additional Child £1.30 £1.35 3.85%
Artificial Turf Full Pitch - per hour
Peak Adult £79.00 £82.00 3.80%
Peak Junior £48.00 £49.00 2.08%
Off Peak Adult £41.00 £42.00 2.44%
Off Peak Junior £26.00 £27.00 3.85%
All Weather Pitch - per hour
Peak Adult £44.00 £45.00 2.27%
Peak Junior £23.00 £23.00 0.00%
Peak Junior (FA Charter) £19.00 £19.50 2.63%
Off Peak Adult £30.00 £31.00 3.33%
Off Peak Junior £14.00 £14.00 0.00%
Friday Night Soccer £0.00 £0.00 0%
Tennis (Outdoor per court- per hour)
Peak Adult £8.50 Premier Tennis
Peak Junior £4.40 Premier Tennis
Off Peak Adult £6.30 Premier Tennis
Off Peak Junior £2.50 Premier Tennis
Netball (Outdoor per court per hour)
Peak Adult £21.00 £21.65 3.10%
Peak Junior £7.40 £7.65 3.38%
Off Peak Adult £8.20 £8.45 3.05%
Off Peak Junior £3.40 £3.50 2.94%
Cricket
Pitch with dressing room - half day £73.00 £75.00 2.74%
Pitch with dressing room - evening £73.00 £75.00 2.74%
Pitch for Juniors (no dressing room) £26.00 £27.00 3.85%

30



Football
Pitch - Adults (90 min game) £74.00 £76.00 2.70%
Pitch - Juniors (Under 18- 90 min game) £32.00 £33.00 3.13%
Mini soccer pitch (40 min game) £12.00 £12.40 3.33%
Bowls
Singles, pairs, triples or rinks per hour £5.50 £5.70 3.64%
Woods - per hour or part hour £1.50 £1.55 3.33%
Season ticket (May-Sept) £132.00 £136.00 3.03%
Season ticket (Oct-Apr) Scapagreen £69.00 £71.00 2.90%
Season ticket (May - Sept) OAP £67.00 £69.00 2.99%
Season ticket (Oct-Apr) Scapagreen £35.00 £36.00 2.86%
Junior rink per hour per person £2.90 £3.00 3.45%
Season ticket junior £32.00 £33.00 3.13%
Swimming
Adult £5.10 £5.20 1.96%
Junior £2.50 £2.60 4.00%
Family Swim 2 Ad + 3 Jun £12.00 £12.50 4.17%
Pool Hire
Both Pools £137.00 £140.00 2.19%
Main Pool £95.00 £97.00 2.11%
Teaching Pool £51.00 £53.00 3.92%
1 lane £18.00 £19.00 5.56%

The Hub with the effect from 1 April 2020

Activity or Equipment Hire Adult/Junior Peak/Off Peak Price
Tennis per Hour Adults Peak 7.80
Tennis per Hour Junior Peak 3.90
Tennis per Hour Adults Off Peak 3.90
Tennis per Hour Junior Off Peak 2.40
Basketball Flood Lights 8.80
AWP Full Adult Peak 56.00
AWP Full Junior Peak 43.50
AWP Full Adult Off Peak 31.60
AWP Full Junior Off Peak 23.00
AWP Half Adult Peak 35.00
AWP Half Junior Peak 24.00
AWP Half Adult Off Peak 17.00
AWP Half Junior Off Peak 11.60
Sports Hall Per Hour Peak 35.00
Sports Hall Per Hour Off Peak 29.00
Studio per Hour 26.00
Table Tennis per 55 mins Peak 3.60
Table Tennis per 55 Mins Off Peak 2.60
Badminton per Court per hr Adults Peak 11.10
Badminton per Court per hr Juniors Peak 11.10
Badminton per Court per hr Adults Off Peak 7.70
Badminton per Court per hr Juniors Off Peak 3.30
Racquet Hire 1.60
Shuttles/Balls per tube hire 1.60

Adult Rates = Age 16+ Peak Hours Weekdays = 1700-21.00

31



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 4

PLANNING Current From 01/01/20 Change
£ £ %

Planning application fee Variable Variable
Planning performance agreement Variable Variable
Permitted development enquiry 81.75 85.00 3.98%
Article 4 Direction 51.55 53.50 3.78%
Copy of plans - A4 0.15 0.20 33.33%
A3 0.25 0.30 20.00%
Larger than A3 3.50 3.75 7.14%

Additional copies 50% of original charge 50% of original charge

Planning Decision Notices 31.00
Free of charge on 

website or 32.00
3.13%

Copies of Tree Preservation Orders 52.40 54.00 3.05%

Copy of Section 52/106 Agreements 52.40
Free of charge on 

website or 54.00
3.05%

Design Access Statement per Page 1.35 1.45 7.41%
Personal searches Statutory Statutory 
Section 52/106 compliance check 195.00 200.00 2.56%

Planning Condition Compliance Check 195.00 200.00 2.56%

Comprehensive Planning Site 143.00 148.00 3.50%
Hedge Conciliation 720.00 730.00 1.39%
Hedge Conciliation - Concession 186.00 190.00 2.15%
Weekly list of applications: Current From 01/01/20 Change

£ £ %
One week 15.00 16.00 6.67%
Yearly subscription 630.00 640.00 1.59%
Planning Obligations Current From 01/01/20 Change

£ £ %
S106 - variation 538.00 545.00 1.30%
Pre-application Advice Fees Current From 01/01/20 Change

£ £ %
House Holder Pre-Application Enquiry 81.75 85.00 3.98%
Pre Application for a change of use 410.00 415.00 1.22%
Pre-application advice – small minor 1 265.00 275.00 3.77%
Pre-application advice – large minor 2 445.00 460.00 3.37%
Pre-application advice – major 3 1,035.00 1,075.00 3.86%
Pre-application advice – large major 4 2,110.00 2,190.00 3.79%
Additional Meetings – Householder pre-
app and small minor (1)

105.00 110.00 4.76%

Additional Meetings – large minor (2), 
change of use

150.00 155.00 3.33%

Additional Meetings – major (3 and 4) 210.00 217.50 3.57%
Condition pre-application advice (Non 
Householder)

90.00 93.00 3.33%

Land Searches Current Inc Vat From 01/01/20 Inc 
Vat

Change

£ £ %
Full Official Search (Hard Copy) 180.00 183.00 1.67%
Full Official Search (Electronic) 180.00 183.00 1.67%
LLC1 (Hard Copy) 49.70 49.70 0.00%

Part II enquiries (Hard copy or electronic) 18.60 20.00 7.53%

Part II Question 2 Commons Registration 24.84 30.00 20.77%

Part I enquiries – additional parcels of 
land

24.64 24.64 0.00%

Further copies of searches 15.00 15.00 0.00%
Personal Searches (statutory) Free Free

HOUSING AND DEVELOPMENT

33



Personal Searches – Photocopying See charges under planning
See charges under 

planning
Refresher search within 6 months only 93.15 93.15 0.00%
Solicitors own enquiry 21.84 23.00 5.31%
Building Control Current From 0101/20 Change

£ £ %
Building regulation fees various Various

34



APPENDIX 5

Collection of Stray Dogs Current From 01/01/20 Change
(Kennelling Fees)

£ £ %
Collection only (no kennelling) 84.00 tbc
One days kennelling 102.50 tbc
Two days kennelling 122.00 tbc
Three days kennelling 141.50 tbc
Four days kennelling 161.00 tbc
Five days kennelling 180.50 tbc
Six days kennelling 200.00 tbc
Seven days kennelling 219.00 tbc

Pleasure Boats Current From 01/01/20 Change
(EBC Charge) 

£ £ %
New boats and boatmen’s licences (plus 
exam fee where applicable)

100.00 tbc

Renewal 92.00 tbc
Current From 01/01/20 Change

£ £ %
Vehicle salvage operators 143.00 143.00 0.00%
Contaminated Land Enquiries Quotes will be based on hourly 

rates
Quotes will be based 

on hourly rates

Drainage jobs Actual Cost + Actual Officer 
cost divided by properties + 

£7.00 admin fee per 
inv/property

Actual Cost + Actual 
Officer cost divided by 

properties + £7.00 
admin fee per 

inv/property
Prescribed process – Fees set by central 
government
Miscellaneous Licences (Statutory 
Fees)

Current From 01/01/20 Change

£ £ %
Scrap Metal Dealers Mobile Licence 285.60 285.60 0.00%
Scrap Metal Dealers Site Licence 372.30 372.30 0.00%
Hackney Carriage & Private Hire 
Operators

Current From 01/01/20 Change

£ £ %
Operator’s licence 365.00 365.00 0.00%
Vehicle licence 180.00 180.00 0.00%
Drivers licence (includes first knowledge 
test)

73.00 n/a

Retest of knowledge test 15.00 25.00 66.67%
Replacement badge 6.00 10.00 66.67%
Replacement plate 10.00 10.00 0.00%
Replacement licence 5.00 10.00 100.00%
Certificate of Compliance 56.00 49.00 -12.50%
Transfer of vehicles 60.00 60.00 0.00%
Temporary Vehicle Licence for 2 month 
licence

0.00 90.00 New

Plate Holder 0.00 12.00 New
Self Adhesive Backing Place 0.00 8.00 New
Transfer of vehicles within 14 days 21.00 21.00 0.00%
Admin Fee – Neglect to provide 
information

20.00 20.00 0.00%

3 Year Driver 182.00 182.00 0.00%

Highways Current From 01/01/20 Change

Other Licences/Fees

tbc

ENVIRONMENT (1 January 2020)

Administrative fee for kennelling As above plus an additional 
£10.00

35



Road Closures – Temporary Orders

£ £ %
Standard notice i.e. longer than 6 weeks 
notice (inclusive of adverts)

1,300.00 1,350.00 3.85%

With less than 6 weeks notice rapid 
response service (inclusive of adverts)

1,500.00 1,950.00 30.00%

Current From 01/01/20 Change

£ £ %
All Other 330.00 330.00 0.00%

Current From 01/01/20 Change

£ £ %
Charitable bodies & community 
organisations

25.00 25.00 0.00%

All others 475.00 475.00 0.00%
Current From 01/01/20 Change

£ £ %
Charitable bodies & Community 
organisations

225.00 231.75 3.00%

Charitable bodies (a complete years 
events programme if booked en-bloc in 
advance)*

475.00 489.25 3.00%

All others 475.00 489.25 3.00%
Current From 01/01/20 Change

£ £ %
Search Fees Statutory Statutory
Tables and chairs on the highway 220.00 235.00 6.82%
Tables and chairs on the highway - 
renewal

110.00 120.00 9.09%

Renewal charge reduced to £85 if paid 
within 28 days

85.00 95.00 11.76%

Current From 01/01/20 Change

£ £ %
Administration Charges including Site 
Visit

90.00 95.00 5.56%

White Lining paint & labour Costs 30.00 65.00 116.67%

Current From 01/01/20 Change

£ £ %
Administration Charges including Site 
Visit

35.00 35.00 0.00%

Reinstate removed bay after e 3 review 
letter/request

n/a 250.00 New Charge

Current From 01/01/20 Change

£ £ %

Road closure signs & barriers (Deposit 
should be charged for signs and cones)

Up to 6.00 per sign per day
Up to 6.00 per sign 

per day

Cones Up to £4.00 per cone per day
Up to £4.00 per cone 

per day
Current From 01/01/20 Change

£ £ %
Change of property name 65.00 65.00 0.00%
New Development of 1 - 2 plots 70.00 75.00 7.14%
New Development of 3 - 5 plots 125.00 130.00 4.00%
New Development of 6-10 plots 225.00 235.00 4.44%

Road Closures – Temporary Notice

Road Closure for Public Event - first 
application

Road Closure for Public Event - 
second application:

Disabled Bay Application

Hire Charges Traffic Management Signs 
and Cones

Additional Highway Enquiries

Access Marking Charges

Street Naming and Numbering

36



New Development of 11 -20 plots 400.00 420.00 5.00%
New Development of 21-50 plots 500.00 550.00 10.00%
New Development of 51-100 plots 725.00 750.00 3.45%
New Development of 101 - 150 plots 950.00 975.00 2.63%
New Development of 151 - 250 plots 1,200.00 1,350.00 12.50%
New Development of 251 - 300 plots 1,500.00 1,650.00 10.00%

New Developments over 300 plots
1,500 plus 15 each additional 

plot
1,750 plus 20 each 

additional plot

125 and 125 and 20 per flat

20 per flat
New postal address for an individual 
property

70.00 70.00

Change to new addresses due to the 
development changing after the schedule 
has been issued

25 per plot 25 per plot

Change to new address due to the 
development changing after the schedule 
has been issued

25 per plot 25 per plot

Naming of new block of flats/building

37



This page is intentionally left blank



Annual, 2 yearly and 3 yearly License fees Tariff

2019 Costs All Inclusive Application fee Compliance
2019 Costs All inclusive 

Renewal
Application 

fee

Annual 
Complian

ce

/ enforcement fee 
/ 

enforcem
ent fee 

£240.00 1 Yr £380.00 1 yr
£130.00 1 

yr

£260.00 £330.00 2 Yr £510.00 2 yr
£260.00 2 

yr
100 £20.00

£420.00 3 Yr £640.00 3yr 
£390.00 3 

yr 

£155.00 1 Yr £240.00 1 yr
£110.00 1 

yr

£160.00 £205.00 2 Yr £350.00 2 yr
£220.00 2 

yr
100 £20.00

£255.00 3 Yr £490.00 3yr
£330.00 3 

yr
£180

£80.00 (+£50 for each new host 
family)

(+ £60 for each 
additional host family)

Home Boarding (License exempt 
Franchisee host family)

£80.00 £100.00 £100.00 N/A £20.00

£195.00 1 Yr £380.00 1 yr
£130.00 1 

yr

£200.00 £245.00 2 Yr £510.00 2 yr
£260.00 2 

yr
100 £20.00

£295.00 3 Yr £640.00 3 yr
£390.00 3 

yr
Performing Animals £260.00 always 3 year 

(3yr License) £260.00 Always 3 Yr 100 £20.00

£260.00 1 Yr £580.00 1 yr
£200.00 1 

yr

£260.00 £315.00 2 Yr £780.00 2 yr
£400.00 2 

yr
100 £20.00

£370.00 3 Yr £980.00 3 yr
£600:00 3 

yr

Horse riding £270.00 1 Yr £380.00 1 yr
£100.00 1 

yr

£270.00 £355.00 2 Yr £480.00 2 yr
£200:00 2 

yr
100 £20.00

£440.00 3 Yr £580.00 3yr
£300:00 3 

yr
Horse riding £270.00 1 Yr £380.00 1 yr

(up to 10) £270.00 Plus £10.00 per horse £315.00 2 Yr £480.00 2 yr

inc of £10.00 per horse £370.00 3 Yr
£580.00 3yr                                 

Plus £10 per horse 
max of £100.00

Horse riding £325.00 1 Yr £380.00 1 yr
(11 – 20) £325.00 £425.00 2 Yr £480.00 2 yr 

£525.00 3 Yr
£580.00                                      

3 yr Plus £10.00 per 
horse max of £200.00

Horse riding £390.00 1 Yr £380.00 1 yr
(21-30) £390.00 £515.00 2 Yr £480.00 2 yr 

Plus £10.00 per horse 

Plus £10.00 per horse 
inc of 4.50 per horse

Pet shops
£600.00 1 year                         

£800.00 2 yr new 
charge

£400.00 £200.00 1 yr       £400.00 2 yr 380.00

£500.00 £300.00 £200.00 always 3 yr £480.00

Licence / 
other 

replacement 
costs

2020 new licences 
Total

2020 renewal 
licences Total

Variation / 
transfer fees

130.00

250.00

2020 costs for renewal of licences

£400.00 1 year              
£500.00 2 year

£300.00 £100.00 1 yr       £200.00 2 yr 280.00

280.00
200.00 

always 3 

£20.00

£270.00 130.00 1 Year        260.00 2 Year 250.00

Home Boarding
£260.00 1 Year                  
£370.00 2 year

£150.00
£110.00 1 Year         £220.00 2 

Year

Breeding
£400.00 1 Year            
£530.00 2 Year

£270.00 £130.00 1 Year £260.00 2 Year

Boarding / daycare
£400.00 1 Year                        
£530.00 2 Year

Activity

2020 costs for new licences

Home Boarding Franchise Holding Co
120.00 (£60.00 for each 

new host family)

39



£640.00 3 Yr
£580.00                             

3 yr Plus £10.00 per 
horse max of £300.00

Horse riding inc of £1.00 per horse £390.00 1 Yr £380.00 1 yr

cost per horse + £9.00 per horse £515.00 2 Yr £480.00 2 yr 

(over 30) £640.00 3 Yr
£580.00                             

3 yr Plus £10.00 per 
horse

Plus £10.00 per horse 
inc of 3.5 per horse

40



Current

£
Surveyor’s fees (excluding any Legal 
fees) for agreeing terms for a deed of 
easement, right of way

Minimum charge of £500
Minimum charge of 

£500

Surveyor’s fees (excluding any legal fees) 
for the valuation and terms for the 
removal/variation of a restrictive covenant

Minimum charge of £500.  
Escalating subject to scale of 
development to max fee tbc.

  Escalating subject to 
scale of 

development.£250 
minimum fee where a 

simple letter of 
consent is issued for 
alterations to former 

council house.  A 
charge of £50 where 
the alteration is to a 

disabled person's 
dwelling house to 
improve access, 

safety, comfort etc
Administration fee to review initial 
enquiries/requests from residents to 
purchase Council land/reversionary 
freehold interests

Minimum £150.  Then capital 
receipt subject to negotiation.

Minimum £150.  Then 
capital receipt subject 

to negotiation.

Surveyors fees to (excluding any legal 
fees) for the valuation and agreement of 
terms for the sale of Council land

Minimum charge of £500
Minimum charge of 

£500

Surveyor’s fees (excluding Legal fees) 
involved in obtaining Landlord consent to 
tenant requests

Minimum charge between £350-
500, up to max fee tbc.

Minimum charge 
between £350-500, up 

to max fee tbc.
Administration Fee non refundable for 
garage lettings

£50 including Vat £50 plus Vat

Between £120 and 
£200 per hour

Eastleigh House – Meeting Room Hire 
Rates

Room Hire Rate 1 – Up to 10 persons

Per Hour 15.50 15.90 2.58%
Per Half Day (no more than 4 Hours) 46.50 47.90 3.01%
Per Day 82.00 84.50 3.05%
Evenings 51.50 53.00 2.91%
Double Room Hire Rate 2 – Up to 20 
persons Boardroom or 50 persons 
Theatre
Per Hour 26.00 26.80 3.08%
Per Half Day (no more than 4 Hours) 77.00 79.30 2.99%
Per Day 133.00 137.00 3.01%
Evenings 82.00 84.50 3.05%
Triple Room Hire Rate 3 – Up to 26 
persons Boardroom or 60 persons 
Theatre
Per Hour 31.00 32.00 3.23%
Per Half Day (no more than 4 Hours) 92.50 95.30 3.03%

Current £ 01-Jan-20 £ Change %

Current £ 01-Jan-20 £ Change %Legal Services

Chargeable Legal Work to include inter alia 
prosecutions; property work and planning 
obligations

                                                                                                                 APPENDIX 7
SUPPORT SERVICES

Asset Management Services 1 Jan 2020 £ Change %

41



Per Day 175.00 180.50 3.14%
Evenings 97.50 100.00 2.56%
Catering Services for External 
Meetings

Provided by HC3S – Tel. 01962 573609

42



Current From 01/01/20 Change

£ £ %

2.68%

Commercial Training courses
To be negotiated based on 

hourly rate/costs

To be negotiated 
based on hourly 

rate/costs

Surrender certificates (disposal of food) 225.75 235.00 4.10%

Certificates in respect of foodstuffs for 
export

90.00 93.00 3.33%

Imported food stuffs
Cost of sampling/disposal & 

officer time

Cost of 
sampling/disposal & 

officer time

3.69%

Current From 01/01/20 Change

£ £ %
Food premises rescores 150.00 150.00 0.00%
Skin Piercing - premises and 1 
practitionery

140.00 145.00 3.57%

Current From 01/01/20 Change

£ £ %
Single event (Two days or less per event.  
Max two days or 20 hours in any year per 
applicant/business)

12.48 13.00 4.17%

Single Event (Three to seven days in a 
block)

47.20 49.00 3.81%

Annual Consent / Licence (One day/night 
per week)

677.90 700.00 3.26%

Annual Consent / Licence 2 days / nights 
per week)

770.00 795.00 3.25%

Annual Consent / Licence 3 days / nights 
per week)

862.15 888.00 3.00%

Food Safety/Health and Safety

Level 2 Food hygiene/health and safety 
refresher course (public courses per 
person)

36.75 38.00

Level 2 Food hygiene/health and safety 
course (public courses per person)

78.75 82.00

Food Premises Register

Skin piercing – registration fee for 
additional practitioners

35.00 36.00

Level 3 Food hygiene/health and safety 
course (public courses per person)

370.08 380.00

Primary authority work. 63.65 66.00

                                                                                                                 APPENDIX 6
ECONOMY

3.40%

2.86%

4.13%

Street Trading Licences/Consents

43



Annual Consent / Licence 4 days / nights 
per week)

955.00 985.00 3.14%

Annual Consent / Licence 5 days / nights 
per week)

1,047.50 1,080.00 3.10%

Annual Consent / Licence 6 days / nights 
per week)

1,138.50 1,173.00 3.03%

Annual Consent / Licence 7 days / nights 
per week)

1,231.65 1,270.00 3.11%

Revenues Current From 01/01/20 Change %
Court Costs 95.00 95.00 0.00%
Charging orders 0.00 0.00

Economic Development Current From 01/01/20 Change %
Sorting Office residents – open unit per 
month

150.00 150.00 0.00%

Sorting Office residents – lockable units 
p/m

175.00 175.00 0.00%

Sorting Office Open Studios – stall hire 
with table

67.25 70.00 4.09%

Sorting Office Open Studios – stall hire 
with own table

62.00 65.00 4.84%

Sorting Office Open Studios – 4 foot 
space

46.50 50.00 7.53%

Production House hire per day 85.00 90.00 5.88%
Production House hire per half day 48.00 50.00 4.17%
Business conference stall hire 120.00 125.00 4.17%

Sponsorship Negotiable, depending on item
Negotiable, depending 

on item

44



APPENDIX 8
STRATEGY

Current From 1 Jan 20 Change

Roundabout Sponsorship £ £ %
Cost per sign per year
(Subject to concession for multiple 
purchases)

Current From 1 Jan 20 Change

Planning Policy £ £ %

Current From 1 Jan 20 Change
Elections £ £ %

Registers (Statutory fees) - paper copies
10 admin fee & £5 per 1,000 

electors
10 admin fee & £5 per 

1,000 electors

Registers (Statutory fees) – data copies
20 admin fee & 1.50 per 1,000 

electors
20 admin fee & 1.50 

per 1,000 electors

Letters confirming register entry 19.60

Regulations have 
changed and we can 

no longer make a 
charge for this

1,325.00 1,325.00 0.00%

Local Plan 115.00 118.45 3.14%

45



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 9
LOCAL OPERATIONS

Current From 1 Jan 20 Change

SLR\SID £ £ %
Deploying the SLR\SID for external
Organisations Per Deployment

0.00 75.00 New Charge

47



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET

15 November 2019

PROPOSED ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION, OLD BURSLEDON 
CONSERVATION AREA AND SPECIAL POLICY AREA

Report of the Head of Housing and Development

Recommendation(s)

It is recommended that  

(1) Cabinet approves the principle of putting in place an Article 4 Direction within the 
Old Bursledon Conservation Area (OBCA), subject to consultation;

(2) Cabinet confirms that the Article 4 Direction shall take the form of an immediate 
direction;

(3) Cabinet approves the preparation and serving of an Article 4 Direction and the 
associated consultation documentation; and

(4) Cabinet confirms the Local Area Committee can approve bringing the Direction into 
force following a report to the Local Area Committee setting out the conclusions of 
the consultation process.

Summary

Due to concerns regarding the risks to the character and appearance of the Old Bursledon 
Conservation Area through development granted under national Permitted Development 
rights, the Local Planning Authority have explored the opportunities to bring into force an 
Article 4 Direction. This would remove the right to undertake specified householder 
development without applying to the Local Planning Authority for planning permission.

This report sets out the nature of development that is automatically granted in 
Conservation Areas through the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 and identifies which Permitted Development rights it would be 
most appropriate to remove.  It sets out the procedure for two different routes to confirm an 
Article 4 Direction and advises on the associated risks to support Cabinet in reaching a 
decision regarding the report recommendations.  

Statutory Powers

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990;

The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 

49

Agenda Item 5



Eastleigh Borough Council

(as amended);

The Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990;

The Town and Country Planning (Compensation) (England) Regulations 2015 (as 
amended).

Strategic Implications 

1. The proposal set out in this report supports the Council’s Corporate Plan 
objective to provide an Excellent Environment for all.  It seeks to secure the 
appropriate level of protection for an area of the Borough which is valued for 
its attractive character and appearance, recognising the intrinsic value of the 
Borough’s heritage assets. 

Introduction

2. Permitted Development Rights (PD rights) are a national grant of planning 
permission which allow certain building works and changes of use to be 
carried out without having to make a planning application.  Development 
under PD rights therefore falls outside of the control of the Local Planning 
Authority.    The rights set out in the legislation are the same across England 
and so inevitably cannot take account of local sensitivities.

3. While there are some exceptions within the legislation, for specifically defined 
areas that are recognised for their intrinsic value, these are limited.  However, 
the legislation does enable the removal of PD rights with sufficient justification 
by a Local Planning Authority, either by means of a condition on a planning 
permission, or by means of an Article 4 Direction.  Following concerns raised 
by Councillors, Burlsedon Parish Council and local residents, this report has 
been compiled  to explore the option of putting in place an Article 4 Direction 
to remove a defined range of PD rights related to dwellings within the OBCA, 
and thereby providing additional protection for this designated heritage asset.

Permitted Development Rights

4. Certain works that would normally require planning permission are permitted 
by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (GPDO), as amended. As a result, the developer 
(typically the owner of the property or land) does not have to make a planning 
application to the Local Planning Authority to seek permission to carry out 
certain building works, provided they comply with specific limitations and the 
small number of conditions set out in the Order.  This is because Government 
has considered that the works are of a scale or type that will generally not 
have an unacceptable impact. Common examples are single storey rear 
extensions or minor alterations to roofs such as rooflights.  

5. The GPDO 2015 is the principal Order and sets out classes of development 
for which a grant of planning permission is automatically given.  Schedule 2 of 

50



Eastleigh Borough Council

the Order sets out the rules on Permitted Development which are subdivided 
into a series of Parts.  Part 1 specifically deals with development within the 
curtilage of a dwellinghouse.  This is further broken down into classes which 
cover different types of development.  These include:

 Class A - the enlargement, improvement or alterations to a house such 
as rear or side extensions as well as general alterations such as new 
windows and doors. 

 Class B - additions or alterations to roofs which enlarge the house such 
as loft conversions involving dormer windows. 

 Class C - other alterations to roofs such as re-roofing or the installation 
of roof lights/windows. 

 Class D - the erection of a porch outside an external door. 

 Class E - the provision of buildings and other development within the 
curtilage of the house. 

 Class F - the provision of hard surfaces within the curtilage of the 
house such as driveways. 

 Class G - the installation, alteration, or replacement of a chimney, flue 
or soil and vent pipe. 

 Class H - the installation, alteration, or replacement of microwave 
antenna such as satellite dishes. 

6. In addition, there are also other Parts of the Order that may be relevant to 
householders.  For example, Part 2 covers matters such as erection or 
construction of gates, fences and walls, exterior painting, charging points for 
electric vehicles and Closed-Circuit Televisions (CCTVs). Part 14 covers the 
installation of domestic microgeneration equipment such as solar panels.  

7. There are some areas within England that are afforded greater protection in 
recognition of their special value.  Article 2(3) land, as defined in the Act, 
includes Conservation Areas, and as a consequence, some rights are 
removed that would otherwise be permitted under the GPDO.   

8. The rights removed include:

 Class A – 

(a) The neighbour consultation scheme for larger rear extensions;

(b) Cladding of any part of the exterior of the dwellinghouse;

(c) Extensions beyond a wall forming a side elevation of the original 
dwellinghouse;

51



Eastleigh Borough Council

(d) Extensions more than one storey and beyond the rear elevation 
of the original dwellinghouse;

(e) Any enlargement that combined with existing enlargements 
would exceed the limits set out in (c) and (d) above.

 Class B – 

(a) All types of development permitted within this class.

 Class E – 

(a) Buildings, enclosures, pools or containers sited on land between 
a side wall and the boundary of the land surrounding the house 
(the curtilage).

 Class G –

(a) The chimney, flue or soil and vent pipe would be installed on a 
wall or roof slope which fronts a highway, and forms either the 
principal elevation or a side elevation of the dwellinghouse.

 Class H – 

(a) The installation of an antenna on a chimney, wall or roof slope 
which faces onto, and is visible from, a highway; or on a building 
which exceeds 15 metres in height.

9. Rights are also removed from Class 14 and details of these have been 
provided in Appendix One, for information.

10. Although greater protection is afforded to Conservation Areas in recognition of 
their intrinsic value, there does remain a range of development that can be 
carried out under PD rights (set out in Appendix One).  While, in many cases, 
the impact of such development is limited, there are situations in which there 
is the potential for a more significant, detrimental impact.  In this scenario, it is 
appropriate for the Local Planning Authority to consider the use of an Article 4 
Direction to enable the LPA to properly assess the impact of the proposed 
development.

Article 4 Directions

11. A Direction under Article 4(1) of the GPDO 2015 enables the Secretary of 
State or a Local Planning Authority to withdraw specified permitted 
development rights across a defined area.  Provided that there is justification 
for both its purpose and extent, an Article 4 Direction can:

 Cover an area of any geographic size, from a specific site to a local 
authority-wide area;

 Remove specified permitted development rights related to operational 
development or change of use;

52



Eastleigh Borough Council

 Remove permitted development rights with temporary or permanent 
effect.

12. Government guidance around Article 4 Directions advises that their use 
should be limited to situations where this is necessary to protect local amenity 
or the wellbeing of the area. The potential harm that the Direction is intended 
to address will need to be clearly identified.

13. It should be noted that an Article 4 Direction only means that a particular 
development cannot be carried out under Permitted Development and 
therefore needs planning permission. This gives a Local Planning Authority 
the opportunity to consider a proposal in more detail as part of a planning 
application. 

14. There are two types of Directions under the GPDO 2015: non-immediate 
Directions and Directions with immediate effect.  Their respective processes 
differ as follows:

15. Immediate Direction:

 Stage 1 - The LPA makes an Article 4 Direction withdrawing permitted 
development rights with immediate effect.

 Stage 2 – Publication/Consultation stage - the LPA:
1. publishes the Notice of Direction in a local newspaper;
2. formally consults with general members of the public and the 

owners and occupiers of every part of the land within the area or 
site to which the Direction relates over a period of 21 days;

3. and places Notices up on site for six weeks.
 Stage 3 – On the same day that Notice is given under Stage 2 above, 

the LPA notifies the Secretary of State of its decision.
 Stage 4 – Confirmation Stage - the Direction comes into force on the 

date on which the Notice is served on the owners/occupiers of the land. 
The LPA has between 28 days from the date of when the Notice comes 
into effect and six months to decide whether to go ahead and confirm 
the Direction, taking into account any representations which have been 
received. If this does not happen within six months, the Direction will 
lapse.

16. Non-immediate Direction: 

 Stage 1 - The LPA decides whether to introduce a Direction setting a 
date in the Notice for when the Direction will come into force (at least 
28 days and no more than two years after representations can first be 
made), which is usually after the last publication date.

 Stage 2 – Publication / Consultation stage - the LPA:
1. publishes the Notice of Direction in a local newspaper
2. formally consults with general members of the public and the 

owners and occupiers of every part of the land within the area or 

53



Eastleigh Borough Council

site to which the Direction relates over a period of at least 21 
days

3. and places Notices up on site for six weeks.
 Stage 3 – On the same day that notice is given under Stage 2 above, 

the LPA refers its decision to the Secretary of State.
 Stage 4 – Confirmation Stage - the Council cannot confirm the 

Direction until after a period of at least 28 days from publication/service 
of the Notice. Once a Direction has been confirmed, the LPA must give 
notice of the confirmation in the same way as it gave notice of the initial 
direction, and must specify the date that the Direction comes into force. 
A copy of the Direction as confirmed must also be sent to the Secretary 
of State.  The Direction comes into force on the date it is confirmed.

17. In relation to Conservation Areas, an Article 4 Direction cannot cover 
Development that is already restricted within the GPDO (set out above and at 
Appendix One).  Article 4 Directions cannot prevent Development which has 
already received prior approval, has been commenced, or which has already 
been carried out.

18. An Article 4 Direction can remain in place permanently once it has been 
confirmed. It is expected however that LPAs would regularly monitor any 
Article 4 Directions to make satisfy themselves that the original reasons for a 
Direction remain valid.  Where an Article 4 Direction is no longer necessary it 
can be cancelled.  A Direction can be modified by cancelling the existing 
Direction and replacing it with a new one. The normal procedures for making 
an Article 4 Direction apply.

Financial Implications

19. Any planning application required as a consequence of an Article 4 Direction 
is exempt from the usual planning application fee and will have an increased 
demand of resources due to the need for a planning officer to assess the 
submitted planning application.  

20. In some circumstances, the Council can be liable to compensate developers 
or landowners whose developments are affected by Article 4 Directions.

21. LPAs are liable to pay compensation to landowners who would have been 
able to develop under the PD rights that the Article 4 Directions withdraws, if 
the LPA:

 Refuse planning permission for development which would have been 
permitted development if not for the Article 4 Direction, or;

 Grant planning permission subject to more limiting conditions that the 
GPDO would normally allow, as a result of the Article 4 Direction being 
in place.

22. Compensation may also be claimed for abortive expenditure or other loss or 
damage directly attributable to the withdrawal of PD Rights.  (Abortive 
expenditure includes works carried out under the PD rights before they were 

54



Eastleigh Borough Council

removed, as well as the preparation of plans for the purposes of any work.)  It 
can also include the difference in the value of the land if the development had 
been carried out and its value in its current state, as well as the cost of 
preparing the plans for the works.

23. Compensation is only payable if an application for planning permission for 
certain development, formerly permitted by the GDPO, is made to the Council 
in writing within 12 months of the Article 4 Direction taking effect.

24. Compensation provisions are set out in Sections 107 and 108 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 and the Town and Country Planning 
(Compensation) (England) Regulations 2015 (as amended).

25. It is difficult to assess the likelihood that a compensation claim will be 
received, and the possible magnitude of a claim.  However, to provide some 
context, 1 Permitted Development enquiry in OBCA relating specifically to 
Class E development has been received in the last two years.  In 2019, 3 
applications for a Lawful Development Certificate for a Proposed Use have 
been received which relate to Class E.  1 of these applications has been 
determined to fall outside of development permitted under PD rights; the 2 
remaining applications remain to be determined.  

26. The guidance around the compensation claim process and assessing the 
claim is very limited.  The LPA considers that claims for compensation would 
be received through the Council’s official complaints procedure and would, in 
the first instance, be assessed by the Housing and Development team in 
consultation with the Legal team.  Depending on the nature of the claim, it 
may be necessary to instruct a surveyor to assist with assessing the claim.    

Key Considerations

27. As noted above, the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) advises that 
the use of Article 4 Directions to remove national PD rights should be limited 
to situations where it is necessary to protect local amenity or the wellbeing of 
the area. This is reiterated in the National Planning Practice Guidance 
(NPPG) which also states LPAs should identify clearly the potential harm that 
the Direction is intended to address and that Immediate Directions can be 
made where the development presents an immediate threat to local amenity 
or prejudices the proper planning of an area.

28. Although PD Rights within a Conservation Area are more restricted, there 
remains the potential for development permitted under the national regime to 
have a detrimental impact, affecting both the amenity value of the area, 
residential amenity, and the value as a designated heritage asset.

29. While the OBCA has a quite diverse character, a significant contributor to the 
area is the tendency for houses to be set in extensive garden landscapes and 
with plot sizes generous in proportion to buildings.  This contributes to the 
sense of space and openness which is an attractive and historic feature.  In 
some places where properties have been extended unsympathetically, this 
sense of space has been eroded creating a more urban character harmfully 

55



Eastleigh Borough Council

impacting the rural and historic character of the locality. In addition, 
development has been carried out that is architecturally unsympathetic and 
further undermines the character of the Conservation Area.  This is a 
significant concern for local Councillors and has been raised as an issue by 
residents in the area.

30. Due to the generous plot size to dwelling relationship, there is the potential for 
very large detached outbuildings to be constructed under the national regime.  
While the siting of these outbuildings under PD rights would be restricted to 
the rear of these properties, due to the Conservation Area designation, there 
remains a risk that these structures could have a significant and detrimental 
impact on the spatial characteristics of the area.  Further, development 
granted under PD rights, provided it meets the limitations and conditions 
stipulated by the GDPO, does not have to be in keeping with, or sympathetic 
to, the character of the locality or the associated dwelling.  

31. The removal of Class E PD Rights (provision of buildings and other 
development within the curtilage of the house) using a Direction, together with 
the greater Article 2(3) restrictions already imposed through the GPDO, would 
enable the LPA to assess the impact of proposed development through the 
submission of a planning application, supporting the continued aims of 
preserving or enhancing the character of the Conservation Area.  It is 
considered that this would be a justified course of action.  Due to the concerns 
expressed by residents and Councillors, an Immediate Article 4 Direction may 
be the most appropriate process to ensure heightened protection is in place 
as soon as possible.

Risk Assessment

32. As discussed above, there is a financial risk that the proposed Directions will 
make the Council liable to compensation claims. As circumstances vary 
widely, it is not possible to gauge the magnitude of such claims. This risk will 
be present for 12 months from an Immediate Article 4 Direction coming into 
force.  

33. It is difficult to give an indication of the level of risk associated with an 
Immediate Direction.  Research undertaken by the Council’s Legal team 
suggests that there have been very few compensation claims made across 
LPAs and there is no record of the size of these claims or whether the 
relevant authority has made payment.  The risk can be avoided if a Non-
Immediate Direction is put in place and 12 months’ notice of confirming the 
Direction is given by the LPA.  As discussed above, given the concerns 
expressed by residents and Councillors, it may be considered that, on 
balance, the risk of a compensation claim does not outweigh the benefit 
afforded to the OBCA through the use of an Immediate Article 4 Direction. 

34. Any claim for compensation will be dealt with through the Council's official 
complaints procedure and it is anticipated that any award would be contained 
within the Strategic Planning (Planning Policy) budget. Should this not be 
possible, support from Council reserves would be sought.

56



Eastleigh Borough Council

Equality and Diversity Implications

Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits public authorities from 
acting in a way which is incompatible with the European Convention on 
Human Rights (ECHR).  Various Convention rights may be engaged in the 
process of making and considering these Article 4 Directions, including under 
Article 1 of the First Protocol (Protection of property) and Article 8 (Right to 
respect for a private and family life). The European Court has recognised that 
“regard must be had to the fair balance that has to be struck between the 
competing interests of the individual and of the community as a whole”. Both 
public and private interests are to be taken into account in the exercise of the 
Council’s powers and duties as a LPA. Any interference with a Convention 
Right must be necessary and proportionate.

35. The LPA has carefully considered the balance to be struck between individual 
rights and the wider public interest. The rights of those affected by the 
proposed Article 4 Directions have been considered under the Human Rights 
Act 1998 and it has been determined that none of the Articles will be 
triggered. 

36. The Council has given consideration to all the protected characteristics in the 
Equality Act 2010 and the characteristic of social deprivation, to ensure that 
any potential impacts of the proposed Article 4 Direction on these groups of 
people have been considered and, where possible, mitigated.  Due to the 
proposed Article 4 Direction seeking to restrict to Class E of the GPDO only 
(buildings within the curtilage of the dwelling), it is not anticipated that this 
would affect individuals desiring to improve disabled access to an existing 
building. 

Conclusion

37. The Council, as LPA, has the ability to bring into force an Article 4 Direction to 
remove specified Permitted Development rights within the OBCA to provide 
heightened protection for this heritage asset in response to concerns raised 
by Councillors and local residents.  It considers doing so would be justified.  
These Directions can take the form of either an Immediate or Non-Immediate 
Direction.  The Immediate Article 4 Direction would provide immediate 
protection but carries with it a financial risk of compensation claims against 
the Council.  A Non-Immediate Article 4 Direction would not provide 
immediate protection, although could avoid the risk of compensation claims if 
12 months notice is given before it is confirmed.  Due to the concerns raised, 
it is suggested that an Immediate Article 4 Direction may be the most 
appropriate course of action.

ANDY GRANDFIELD
Head of Housing and Development

Date: 22 October 2019

57



Eastleigh Borough Council

Contact Officer: Kitty Budden 
Tel No: 023 8068 8266
E-mail: kitty.budden@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: One

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

Old Bursledon Conservation Area Appraisal Supplementary Planning Document, 
Adopted February 2012.

58



Eastleigh Borough Council

APPENDIX 1

Table Summarising Permitted Development Rights within a Conservation Area and the 
Proposed Rights to be Removed by an Article 4 Direction

Section of 
GDPO

Associated 
development 
(summarised)

Planning application 
already required as 
in Conservation 
Area

Proposed to 
remove PD Rights

Schedule 2, 
Part 1

Class A 
(enlargement, 
improvement, 
alterations to 
house)

Single storey rear 
extensions

Required for larger 
extensions (4-8m 
depending on house 
type)

No

Two storey rear 
extensions

Yes n/a

Side extensions Yes n/a

New windows/doors No No

Cladding Yes n/a

Class B 
(additions, 
alterations to 
roof)

Dormer windows Yes n/a

Hip to Gable Yes n/a

Class C (other 
roof 
alterations)

Re-roofing No No

Rooflights/windows No No

Class D 
(porch)

Porch outside 
external door

No No

Class E 
(curtilage 
buildings)

Buildings within 
curtilage of house

Yes, if sited on land 
between a side wall 
and the boundary of 
the land surrounding 
the house

Yes (all buildings 
within the curtilage 
that are not to the 
side of the house). 

59



Eastleigh Borough Council

Class F (hard 
surfaces)

Hard surfaces within 
curtilage of house

No No 

Class G (flue/ 
soil and vent 
pipe)

Installation/ 
alteration/ 
replacement of flue 
or soil and vent pipe

Yes, if sited on wall or 
roof slope which 
fronts highway and 
forms principal/side 
elevation of house

No

Class H 
(microwave 
antenna)

Installation/ 
alteration/ 
replacement of 
microwave antenna 
(eg. satellite dish)

Yes, if sited on a 
chimney, wall or roof 
slope facing onto or 
visible from a 
highway; or on a 
building exceeding 
15m in height

No

Schedule 2, 
Part 2

Class A 
(means of 
enclosure)

Erection/ 
construction/ 
maintenance/ 
improvement or 
alteration of a gate, 
fence, wall or other 
means of enclosure.

No No

Class B 
(means of 
access)

Formation, laying 
out and construction 
of a means of 
access to a highway 
which is not a trunk 
road or a classified 
road

No No

Class C 
(exterior 
painting)

Painting of any 
exterior of building

No No

Schedule 2, 
Part 14

Class A (PV/ 
solar thermal)

Installation/ 
alteration/ 
replacement of solar 
PV/ solar thermal

Yes – on wall fronting 
highway

No 

Class B 
(standalone 

Installation/ 
alteration/ 
replacement of 

Yes – if nearer to 
highway than part of 
house nearest to that 

No 

60



Eastleigh Borough Council

solar) stand-along solar highway

Class C 
(ground 
source heat 
pump)

Installation/ 
alteration/ 
replacement of 
ground source heat 
pump

No No 

Class D (water 
source heat 
pump)

Installation/ 
alteration/ 
replacement of 
water source heat 
pump

No No 

Class E (flue 
for biomass)

Installation, 
alteration, 
replacement of flue 
for biomass heating 
system

Yes – if installed on 
wall/roof slope 
fronting highway

No 

Class F (flue 
for CHP)

Installation, 
alteration, 
replacement of flue 
for CHP

Yes – if installed on 
wall/roof slope 
fronting highway

No 

Class G (air 
source heat 
pump)

Installation/ 
alteration/ 
replacement of air 
source heat pump

Yes – if installed on 
wall/roof slope 
fronting higway or 
nearer to highway 
than part of house 
nearest to that 
highway (if stand-
alone)

No 

Class H (wind 
turbine)

Installation/ 
alteration/ 
replacement of wind 
turbine

Yes – if installed on 
wall/roof slope 
fronting highway

No 

Class I 
(standalone 
wind turbine)

Installation/ 
alteration/ 
replacement of 
stand-along wind 
turbine

Yes - if nearer to 
highway than part of 
house nearest to that 
highway

No 

61



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

63

Agenda Item 7
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

67

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 Corporate Fees and Charges
	Appendix 1 - Arts and Culture - Corporate Fees and Charges
	Appendix 2 - DirectServices - Corporate Fees and Charges
	Appendix 3 - HealthandWellbeing - Corporate Fees and Charges
	Appendix 4 - HousingandDevelopment - Corporate Fees and Charges
	Appendix 5 - Environment - Corporate Fees and Charges. pdf
	Appendix 5 - Part2 - Environment - Corporate Fees and Charges
	Appendix 7 - SupportServices - Corporate Fees and Charges
	Appendix 6 - Economy - Corporate Fees and Charges
	Appendix 8 - Strategy - Corporate Fees and Charges
	Appendix 9 - LocalOperations - Corporate Fees and Charges

	5 Article 4 Direction - Old Bursledon Conservation Area
	7 Property Transaction
	Exempt Item - Appendix to Report - KP


